
CITY OF HANOVER 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

MARCH 25, 2024 
OFFICIAL MINUTES 

Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance 
Stan Kolasa called the March 25, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting to order at 7:00 pm.  Members 
present were Stan Kolasa, Jim Schendel, Gretchen Barrett, John Ganfield and Chad Olson.  Also present 
City Planner Cindy Nash, Council Liaison Mike Amery and Administrative Assistant Amy Biren.  Many 
guests were present 

Approval of Agenda 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the agenda, seconded by Barrett.  
Motion carried unanimously. 

Approval of Minutes from the February 26, 2024, Regular Meeting 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the February 26, 2024, minutes, seconded by Barrett. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

Citizen’s Forum 
None 

Public Hearing 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment to Future Land Use and Rezoning from Multiple Family 
Residential to I-2 Industrial for Property on the South Side of 5th Street NE (PIDs 108-500-363207 
and 108-020-001031) 

Kolasa closed the Planning Commission meeting and opened the Public Hearing at 7:02 pm. 

Nash explained the Board has two applications to review:  A comprehensive plan amendment to re-guide 
the parcels from Multiple Family Residential to Industrial as well as rezoning the parcels as such.  While 
provided a concept plan by the applicant, the Board will not be providing input on that tonight.  Nash also 
said that public input received addresses concerns related to the concept plan. 

She explained that during the review and update of the Comprehensive Plan in 2018, there was discussion 
regarding these parcels and others in Hanover.  The two parcels in the application tonight were up-zoned 
to Multiple Family Residential to provide a buffer between the properties nearby zoned Industrial and 
Single Family Residential.  Nash reiterated the uses surrounding the parcels as stated in the agenda packet 
memo. 

Nash explained the property is wooded and slopes to the northwest where it reaches its lowest elevation.  If 
the trees are removed, screening would be difficult to do as the proposed contractor garages would be at a 
lower elevation than the surrounding homes. 

Nash said that staff is providing no recommendation at this time. 

Nash added that the market study being done as part of the Schirmer property application will be completed 
soon and will be bringing it to the next meeting.  The study will provide data related to zoning districts, 
particularly those other than residential, to show the future needs in Hanover.  Ganfield asked if it would 
provide data other than just the Schirmer property.  Nash replied it would provide data for all of Hanover. 



Barrett asked how much of Hanover is zoned Multiple Family Residential.  Nash replied that the Schendel 
Farm is approximately 20 acres and then the River Town Villas which is located to the south of the 
applicant’s parcels.  Nash also explained that Multiple Family Residential in Hanover is not the same 
density as a city such as Maple Grove.  Hanover is between four (4) and twelve (12) units per acre.  Barret 
explained that different types of housing needs had been brought up during the Design Team visit. 
 
Craig Wensmann, Bogart, Pederson & Associates Land Surveyors, and applicant spokesperson, explained 
the project.  The proposed contractor garages or car condos are storage units with plumbing and heating.  
Smaller companies are looking for storage space outside of their residential property and this would be an 
option for them.  The site plan does show some buffer between the residential spaces.  Wensmann expressed 
concern at some of the public comments and explained that to retain the Multiple Family Residential zoning 
would cause more change than what is being proposed by the applicant.  He gave an example of a project 
he worked on in another city where the residents did not agree with the approval of the contractor garages, 
but several years later, the residents admitted it was a better application.  Wensmann indicated there would 
lower traffic volumes with the garages and there are guidelines in the City’s ordinance to make them 
attractive.  He showed a printed example and Barrett asked to see it.  The photo of the Big Lake Car Condos 
was given to the Board. 
 
Olson asked about the number of lessees anticipated in the garages.  Brian Lee, applicant, stated that there 
would be up to six (6) per building and there are four (4) buildings planned. 
 
Barrett asked if the Board changes the zoning, is there any control over what could be constructed on the 
parcel.  Nash replied that if it met the I-2 zoning requirements, there really is not any control over what 
happens.  She went on to explain that the ordinances do not have any tree preservation and that it would be 
to the applicant’s advantage to leave as many trees as possible.  Also, the Multiple Family Residential 
district does not have a buffer requirement.  Kolasa asked it could be made a requirement.  Nash responded 
that would be a question for the city attorney, but in doing so, it would be putting a requirement on a certain 
property within a zoning district that another property in the same zoning district does not have.  Similar 
properties need to be treated similarly. 
 
Kolasa stated the villas in the River Town Villas neighborhood overlook the applicant’s property.  Barrett 
asked if the screening is a height requirement.  Nash said that it is difficult to say as the ordinance only 
states it needs to be screened from view. 
 
Lee stated there is a 100-foot setback and plans to keep as many trees as possible.  This buffer allows a 
slope to the property and keeps the retaining wall at a lower height.  Schendel asked for the height of the 
garages.  Lee said the sidewall height is 14 feet.  Kolasa asked about a roadway in the rear of the property.  
Lee said there would not be one.  Nash said that the back is intended for outdoor storage. 
 
Olson asked if a traffic study had been completed.  Wensmann responded no and that he has never had that 
request for a project such as this.  Nash responded that staff is not concerned with the amount of traffic.  
Olson said he wanted to know how much noise would be generated by the traffic. 
 
Lee was asked about hours of operation.  He responded that there are not set hours and gave the example 
of his business where he would be starting at 7:30 am to be on the job by 8 am.  He did preface it by 
explaining most of his jobs are local. 
 
Nash asked what types of materials would be in the outside storage area.  Lee said enclosed trailers and the 
like.  Barrett expressed concern that what was stored in the outdoor storage area could be junk and an eye 
sore.  She said that this is a big issue for her. 
 
Laurel Prairie, 11244 Freedom Way Drive, asked what storage garages had been built by residential areas 
since she was not able to find any.  Prairie provided a copy of aerial views of neighboring cities to the Board 
members.  Ganfield asked for the access times to the storage units.  Nash stated there really were not any 



requirements regarding access times and asked Biren.  Biren stated that there are only times regarding noise 
in the ordinance, 7 am to 10 pm, which would include mowing the lawn, homeowner construction projects 
and similar things.  She also stated that it was not in the Zoning ordinance but in a nonzoning ordinance. 
 
Prairie continued asking if there is a possibility that another buyer could outbid the current application and 
put something else on the parcel.  Nash responded that it is possible, but unlikely as it was her understanding 
that the applicant was already under agreement with the owner. 
 
Jill Johnson, 286 Liberty Drive, asked about the type of lighting in the facility.  Lee responded that he does 
not have this information at this time and that the zoning is in question, not the site plan. 
 
Johnson also wanted to know the distance between the homes on the south side and the facility.  Lee said 
it was 100 feet.  Nash agreed that it was 100 feet on the east side, but that the rear or south side was only 
50 feet as required by the ordinance.  Lee reiterated that he wants to keep as many trees as possible. 
 
Andy Weitnauer, River Town Villas Developer, expressed concern about the project.  He explained that 
when the River Town Villas project was being planned, he understood the zoning to the north would be 
Multiple Family Residential.  Having it changed to Industrial is a major change and will impact the 
development.  He agreed that it is a cool project, but that many of his buyers either asked him or talked with 
staff at the City about the neighboring property before making their purchase.  Weitnauer stated this project 
will have a significant impact on his development. 
 
Tim Bellin, River Town Villas Developer and Builder, agreed that this is a cool project.  He reiterated that 
the current residents in the villas asked about the zoning of the properties surrounding their homes.  He also 
said that if they had known that this parcel would be rezoned, they would have planned the development 
differently.  Some of Bellin’s concerns include lighting, traffic, and times of operations. 
 
Wensmann responded that he appreciates the comments and understands the concerns.  He said he disagrees 
with the idea that Multiple Family Residential would be better.  Wensmann pointed out that the site plan 
has everything boxed in and opening internally to the site. 
 
Olson asked for an approximate number of units if Multiple Family Residential would be on the property.  
Wensmann indicated he felt it would be 40-50 units within a three-story building. 
 
Linda Helisek, 284 River Road, said that she and her husband recently moved to Hanover from Eagen.  
They took a loss on their property due to the apartment buildings in the area and the amount of crime 
occurring.  She said she hopes that people realize how special Hanover is.  She is not in favor of an 
apartment building. 
 
Olson asked if a conditional use permit (CUP) could be applied to the outdoor storage.  Nash responded 
that it depends on its use.  Kolasa stated that a property in downtown had a CUP.  Nash confirmed that, but 
stated that it is in a different zoning district and conditions could be placed on it. 
 
Nash continued explaining that open and outdoor storage is permitted in I-2 with the conditions of it being 
fenced and screened from neighboring residential areas and with it being paved.  With the residents in the 
villa overlooking it from a higher elevation, Nash is not entirely sure how screening would work.  However, 
it is not a conditional use since it is permitted and if the area is not maintained it becomes an enforcement 
issue. 

Nash reminded the Board of the public comment emails that were included in the packet and that an 
additional email had been submitted which was in front of each Board member.  Liz Young’s email voiced 
her concerns and questions. 

Kolasa closed the Public Hearing and re-opened the Planning Commission meeting at 7:50 pm. 



Schendel expressed his desire to see the market study before making a decision on the application. 

Barrett stated that other housing options are needed in Hanover and that it has been discussed during the 
Design Team visit.  She prefers the smaller Multiple Family Residential housing similar to the River Town 
Villas.  She also questioned whether this application would fit in with the idea of a downtown Hanover 
which is desired by many.   

Barrett said that she really likes the idea of the car condos and would like to know how much would be 
charged.  Lee said that is $1 per square foot and it would be pre-leased to set the space up according to the 
lessee’s needs.  He continued saying he sees a need for this type of facility, including his own business.  
Schendel asked if Lee would own it.  Lee confirmed he would retain ownership. 

Olson asked Lee why the choice to rezone it as I-2 instead of I-3.  Lee explained that with I-2, outdoor 
storage is possible, and he would be able to have some of the trees as a buffer.  He explained it would be a 
gated property with security.  Nash added that I-2 does have architectural requirements. 

Ganfield said he liked the idea of the project especially with the buffer and trees.  His fear is that in the 
future, someone comes along and rips out the trees.  He reiterated that the opinions of the residents are very 
important. 

Olson wondered if two of the buildings could be moved.  Nash responded that the stormwater pond was 
just a model to show that the parcel needed it.  Nash asked if the outdoor storage could be move to the west 
side of the property so it was on the same side as the other industrial building.  Wensmann said that they 
created multiple concept plans and this version would give the most flexibility as well as save more of the 
trees. 

Kolasa also stated that the Board needs to know the data being presented by the market study and suggested 
tabling the application until the information is presented. 

MOTION by Olson to table the application for the Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Rezoning from 
Multiple Family Residential to I-2 Industrial, seconded by Schendel. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Nash said that this will be back on the agenda for April’s Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Unfinished Business 
 None 
 
New Business 
 None 
 
Reports and Announcements 
 Nash indicated that the Schirmer property would be on the agenda at next month’s meeting. 
 Biren asked the Board for an alternative date for the May meeting as the regular meeting falls on 
Memorial Day.  The Board decided on Wednesday, May 29, 2024.  Biren said she would post the meeting 
change and update the necessary materials. 
 Barrett asked what road projects were scheduled for 2024.  Nash and Biren said that Jenn Edison, 
City Engineer, would have the schedule. 
 Olson stated that the ordinances have the Comprehensive Plan being reviewed every five (5) years 
and would like to make the recommendation to the City Council to do so.  Nash responded that she has 
been in conversation with City Administrator Jennifer Nash about updating the ordinances related to the 
Planning Commission and the Comprehensive Plan.  The City Council could soften the requirement of 
reviewing it every five (5) years.  She also suggested waiting to see what the state legislature decides 
regarding the missing middle housing so as not to have to rework everything. 
 Barrett asked for an update for the Highlands and Vistas at Crow River as it was before Council 
for approval.  She was concerned about the renderings for the villa homes as two-story homes instead of 



the preferred single level homes.  Amery responded that the Council did vote to move it forward and 
approve it.  He said he did not feel there was enough support to make them single level, particularly after 
Lennar said they just received a study saying that the single level homes were not selling, but the two-
stories were.  He added that these will have a three-car garage and sell at a higher price. 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Olson to adjourn, seconded by Schendel.   
Motion carried unanimously.  
Meeting adjourned at 8:23 pm. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
Amy L. Biren 
Administrative Assistant 

 


